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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (!F KNOWRN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
Located on Payetteville Strect, historically Raleigh's most important downtown
thoroughfare, the old Masonic Temple Building is typical in terms of form and style

of skyscrapers erected around the turn of the century. The architect adapted

Sullivanesque massing and Beaux Arts ornamentation to organize the massive seven-story
styructure. This system is a versatile formula for tall buildings because it applies
the classical organization of a column-base, shaft, and capital to the building's

exterior.

The term skyscraper was originally applied to a tall man but was soon coined to
describe the new buildings which touched the sky. Certain gualities such as an
emphasis on verticality and structure, non-load bearing walls, height above five
stories, fireproof construction, and the employment of elevators for vertical trans-
portation, define a building as a skyscraper. The O0ld Masonic Temple Building possesser
these distinctive attributes and thus can properly be termed a skyscraper.

The 0Old Masonic Temple Building is composed of seven stories, with five bays on
the Fayetteville Street elevation and seven bays on the Hargett Street elevation. It
is faced with Indiana limestone up to the third floor and yellow pressed brick for the
remainder of the skin. The rear facades are sheathed in stuccoed red brick. The build-
ing is distinguished by a variety of stone finishes and a classical decorative skin.

The original pedestrian level of the Masonic Building was characterized by a rusticated
stone veneer. The Hargett Street facade contained a graceful arcade, while the Fayette-
ville Street elevation presented the twin-arched entrances to the building. These
elaborate openings were separated by three wide-linteled bays of display windows, flanked
by pilasters. The decorative portals were clearly emphasized by balconies supported on
large scrolled consoles. Bulbous turned balusters carried the balustrade. This first
story was "modernized" and lost forever in 1948.

The first and second stories are separated by a wide cornice band. The second
floor is sheathed in ashlar veneer, which is contrasted by five courses of rusticated
stone. This departure from the more intricate textures of the pedestrian level adds
the visual weight necessary to "hold" the building to the street. The fenestration
of the second story, and indeed the majority of the building is a simple rectangular
form divided by one vertical muntin. The second-floocr windows are outlined by a running
lintel mold, which c¢reates a strong horigzontal band around the building. This element
is surmounted by another wide simple cornice which denotes the rise of the main "shaft”

of the building.

The third through sixth stories constitute the majority of the structure and their
similar treatment mirrors the sameness of the offices within. The windows are organized
into vertiecal bands, divided by undecorated massive piers which rise unbroken in this
uniform treated area. The central plers are capped by stylized terra cotta Ionic
capitals at the fifth floor. The piers continue one half story and join in arches
which visually terminate the business sector of the building. The corner piers and two
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additional piers on the Hargett Street facades are not interrupted by the capital
element but rise to the top of the sixth floor; thus the corner windows of this
facade are rectangular, not arched in form. The end piers join at the edges of
the building to form supportive corner posts. The termination of the shaft area
is finalized by a robust string course which follows the shape of the sixth floor
fenestration. Another cornice further separates the shaft from the remaining
“capital" story.

This final story, reflecting the Masonic Meeting Hall within, resembles a
Doric frieze in which the windows served as metopes and the dividing piers as
triglyphs. Stylized pilasters flank the square windows, a feature which recalls
the vertical elements of triglyphs. A wide flat frieze separates this space from
the crowning dentillated cornice,which is surmounted by a crenelated parapet shielding
the flat roof.

The decorative skin of the building is a rather two-dimensional interpretation
of classical detailing, commonly favored by Beaux Arts practitioners. In addition,
the deliberate use of the Greek orders on both the interior and exterior relates to
their symbolic meaning within the Masonic order. Thus it is no coincidence that in
the intericr the street level is articulated in the Ionic order, the Mason's office
floor in the Doric order, and the most 1mp0rtant and symbolic room of all, the
Meebing Room, in the Corinthian Order.

The interior of the Masonic Temple Building consists of five basic parts: the
basement containing mechanical ecquipment, the ground floor containing stores, the
second through fifth floors containing offices, and the two-story Masonic Meeting room
at the top. This sophisticated yet very typical method of organizing & skyscraper
called for the most elaborate detail on the street level to impact a sense of human
scale, contrasted against the exaggerated liftiness of the skyscraper itself. These
five functions are clearly reflected upon the skyscraper's facade.

The first floor originally contained the obligatory corner bank. The interior
of the bank was defined by ornate plaster decoration of the Ionic vocabulary. These
plaster crown moldings, pilasters, and capitals added to the sense of delicacy and
graciousness which the room emanated. A contemporary photograph shows the bank counter
located along the north wall, with the bank vault behind. 6 The bank's offices occupied
a second floor mezzanine which was visually divided from the main floor by three large
panels composed of thirty-five small lights, and separated by [luted pilasters.
Apparently the first tenants were very pleased with their new quarters, as a contemporary
source remarked "The Raleigh Savings Bank is in the Masonic Temple Building and has
the handsomest offices in Raleigh,"
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The second through fifth floors contained approximately fourteaen offices
located on either side of a central corridor. PEach floor also had a restroom, two
elevators (original elevators replaced) and a spacious stairway with cast iron
railings in a fleur de lis pattern. Each business typically had one office although
gome businesses combined spaces for a larger work area or a series of examination
rooms. This flexibility of partitions is one advantage of reinforced concrete con-
struction and allowed the building to accomodate changing businesses and changing

times.

Bach office is entered through one-half glass door, beneath an etched glass
transom with imprinted office number. These rows of well-preserved doors are perhaps
the most evocative feature remaining in the building. Each office is carefully but
simply detailed. Five-paneled connecting doors beneath plain architraves are still
intact in nearly every office, as are the paired double-hung sash windows, two units
to an office. A delicate three-part picture molding encircles each room, while a
one-foot baseboard surrounds the floor which is sheathed in narrow wooden f£loor
boards over concrete slabs. The Masonic offices contained unique brass door
scutcheons emhbossed with the mystic eye and the Masonic emblem.

After climbing an indeterminable amount of stairs one arrives with great pleasure
and surprise in the magnificent two-story Masonic Lodge Meeting Room, which provides
a grandiose conclusion for this classical structure. All decorative plaster, be it
crown moldings, capitals or columns, are of the Corinthian order, one of highest
significance to the Masonic organization. Massive plaster pilasters crowned with
ornate capitals rise from the gallery levels to the ceiling, while two paired full-size
pilasters articulate the stage on the eastern wall. (The gallery itself is supported
by posts). The large space is visually divided and actually supported by concrete struc
tural beams running in both directions which appear to be supported by plaster
pilasters. This coordination of post, pilaster, and beam embues the room with a
pleasing sense of classical balance and graciousness combined with a modern sense
of geometricality and perspective. Illuminated by two rows of windows the space
possesses a sense of fragility and airiness, futher amplified by the magnificient
view afforded by the huilding's height as well as the very real sensation of being
seven stories above the ground.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Masonic Temple Building (1907-1909), a handsome element of downtown Raleigh,is
significant to the urban architectural development of the state as the first reinforced
concrete skyscraper erected in North Carolina. Designed by South Carolina architect
Charles McMillan, the seven-story structure is a conservative, classicized example of
the Sullivan-influenced skyscraper composition. The structure was commissioned by the
Grand Lodge of Ancient, Free and Accepted Masons of North Carolina to provide office
and meeting space for both the Grand Lodge (state organization) and the local Raleigh
lodges. The remainder of the office space was rented by insurance companies, lawyers,
doctors, businesses, etc., while the street level originally housed a bank and pharmacy
with a barber shop in the basement. The building remained a downtown service center
until after the end of World War II. Thus it is remembered as a building which was
part of the community's downtown experience and remains today an integral part of the

architectural character of downtown Raleigh.

A. Associated with the development of Raleigh as a growing city in the early
twentieth century.

B, The structure is associated with the Masons, the largest fraternal organization
in the world, who occupied the building for some forty-five years. Former Masons
included prominent political figures, educators, lawyers, businessmen, etc. The
building is of statewide significance as it served as the headquarters for both
the state and local lodges.

C. It is the earliest known steel-reinforced concrete skyscraper in North Carolina
and shows the influence of the Chicago School in the South in the organization
of the skyscraper, but adorned with Beaux Arts elements. Much original interior
fabric remains, reflecting space needs, organization and image in a modern office
building of the turn of the century.
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The News and Observer Special Edition of June 6, 1907, proudly advertised
the edifice at the corner of Fayetteville and Hargett streets as "The Masonic
Temple, A Magnificent Buililding." The article further stated:

This building is bheing erected at the corner of Fayetteville and Hargett
Streets and is to cost in the neighborhood of $120,000. It will be built
of steel reinforced concrete, the first building of this kind to be erected
in the 8tate, the plans for it having been drawn up by Mr. Charles McMillan,
a prominent architect.

The Masonic Building was probably the first reinforced concrete skyscraper in
North Carolina. The building was constructed of high=quality concrete which was
utilized for the skyscraper's skeleton of columns, girders, beams, floors, and roof,
rendering the building fireproof. Exterior walls were infilled with brick. The
News and Observer's observation that the Masonic Temple Building was the first rein-
forced concrete building in North Carolina has been contradicted by a 1903 Raleigh
Chamber of Commerce publication which describes the dormitory at the Roman Catholic
Orphanage as the "first fireproof building here." This building, however, was not a
skyscraper. The more sophisticated reinforced concrete "Independence Building" in
Charlotte,North Carolina was built one year after the old Masonic Temple Building.

Reinforced concrete was first utilized by Ernest L. Ransome in the late nineteenth
century. Ransome became the pivotal figure in the development and design of this
material in the United States. There are many advantages to the usage of reinforced
concrete which include its relatively low cost, its fireproofing abilities, and its
malleability. 3 The synergistic relationship between concrete and steel is well
defined in this contemporary article:

The practical meaning of this is, on the one hand, that a beam composed wholly
of concrete is usually inadvisable, since its low tensile strength makes it uneconomical,
if not actually impracticable, for it may be readily shown that, beyond a comparatively
short span, a concrete beam will not support its own weight. On the other hand, on
account of the cheaper compressive stress furnished by concrete, an all-steel beam
is not so economical as a beam inwhich the concrete furnishes the compressive stress
and the steel furnishes the tensile strength....
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The Masons have been an important organization in North Carolina since 1755, when
St. John's Lodge No. 1 was chartered in Wilmington, and active in Raleigh since 1794,
when William R. Davie served as the Grand Master of Democratic Lodge No. 21. Casso's
Tavern was used as a lodge room for the Masons who were mainly Revolutionary War veterans
and foreigners who came to Raleigh to build the new city. However Lodge No. 21 was
dissolved shortly alfter the charter was granted because the two factions debated incessant)
over religious and political convictions. A new charter was granted in 1799, and Hiram
Lodge No. 40 came into existence. On November 29, 1811, Theophilus Hunter denated a lot
on the corner of Morgan and Dawson streets; this became the site of the first Masonic
Temple building, which was dedicated on June 24, 1813.

During the Civil War, another Raleigh lodge was born. "In the tumult and confusion
of 1864, in Raleigh a number of Masonic brothers decided one Lodge, Hiram No. 40, could
not now alone supply the Masonic needs of the community. A new Lodge was therefore
petitioned for, and the Grand Lodge responded with the granting of a temporary charter
to William G. Hill Lodge No. 218, which proceeded to hold its first meeting
May 18, 1864." 10 A present day member of this chapter describes the aspirations of
the Masonic order: "It is an organization based on religious principles composed of
dedicated individuals who seek to promote the fatherhood of God, the brotherhocod of
man, and the welfare of the world in general." 11

In the 1880's a movement was begun among the Masons to raise funds for the
construction of a new temple, but this effort was not recalized until the early 1900°'s,
when construction began on the Masonic Temple Building.12 The building was financed both
by individual lodges (which now included three in Raleigh, as Raleigh Lodge No. 550 was
chartered Januvary 1, 1900)13 and through traditional bank loans. As the minutes from
the William G. Hill Lodge attest:

On November 22, 1903, Brother John C. Drewry, Past Master, of the Board of
Control of the Masonic Bazaar, made a final report on that effort to raise funds
for the Masonic Temple. A total of $6,590.42 was raised, but operating ex-
penses reduced the net profit to $2,670.27, not a mean sum for such a venture.
This account was credited to the Temple Fund .... 14

Ground was broken for the new building by mid-1907 15 and was apparently ready
for occupation by late 1909 when a "Joint committee from the three Lodges was named
to purchase an electric Masonic sign for the outside of the building."™ o The final
construction costs exceeded the News and Gbserver estimete by $12,500. The cest
finally was $132,500.00. Construction expenses included $50 for a Masonic committee to
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investigate concrete construction, $36,000 for the temple site, $23,467.11 to Central
Carolina Construction Company, $500 to the Southern Electric Company, $1000 to J. S.
Haley to install plumbing; $500 to James McMillan, construction superintendent, and
$2,321.18 to Charles McMillan, architect." 18

The new building was used by hoth the Grand Lodge State Masonic organization
and the individual lodges and contained hoth rentable commercial space and Masonic
offices. This successful practice of combining rental space with Masonic offices
was often used throughout the United States. The seven-story building contained
store fronts on the first floor, the Masonic Library and offices on the second floor,
and the Mason's Mecting Room"™ on the top two floors. The remaining floors were
typically rented by insurance companies, doctors, lawyers, and businessmen.®’ Apparently
a local weather station also moved to the new building.Zl The first occupant of the
corner storefront was the Raleigh Savings Bank, which was located at this site until the
late 1920s. The Morris Plan Industrial Bank leased the building next. This bank was
liquidated in 1935. Land's Jewelers leased the spot for the next forty years, and during
this time the building was known as the Land building. Another early storefront was the
Masonic Temple Pharmacy. This became Brantley's Pharmacy in 1911 and remained in the
building for the next fifty years. 22

. - ) 23

In 1946 the Masons sold the building to Land's Jewelry Store for $260,000. One
month later Land's resold it to the New Jersey-based Georgelm Realty, Inc., who then
leased the store back to Land's. This sale reflected the Mason's apparent long-time
dissatisfaction with their building. According to L. Polk Denmark, Masonic historian,
"Running discussion extending over months and evenyears regarding a new Masonic Building
would make its appearance at almost any meeting in the prosperous days of the early
and mid-nineteen twenties.?® In addition to the parking problems in downtown Raleigh,
and the growing membership, the local lodges also desired more auvtonomy from the state
orqanization.26 However, the Masonic organizations continued to lease meeting and office
space in the building until 1951 when they moved into their new building on Glenwood Avenuc
and Caswell Street.?

In 1948, the storefront level of the building received a modern geometrical steecl
and glass facade accented with mirrored columns and stylized lettering. The entrance to
the building was also moved at this time_28 In order to erect the new facade it was
necessary to remove much of the original Romanesque entry facade. The remodeling was
designed by Raleigh architect F. Carter Williams. Mr. Williams's offices had been in the
Masonic Temple Building, and in 1951 he movad his offices to the brilliantly lit,
spacious former "Meeting Room," where his office remained until 1961, after which it was

used by an exercise club.
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In 1962 the building was sold to Helen, Alexander, and then Benjamin Weinstein
and was owned by them until 1973, when it was repossessed by Raleigh Savings and Loan.
Because Raleigh Savings and Loan did not want to market the building with active
leases 21 and because of the general neglect of the building, as well as the immediate
downtown area, the few businesses left in 1973 soon moved to new quarters. Today the
classic shyscraper which contains some 30,000 square feet of office space and a
magnificent two-story room on the top floor is wacant. A contract has been signed for
purchase of the building by an investment firm that intends to renovate the structure.

Fooctnotes

1 . . . . .
Loren Patridge, "Bay Area Architecture", (Class notes, University of California
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